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Now comes HI FI DNA TECH, LLC, by its attorney Anthony J.

Must o, and nakes the followng for its Amended Conpl aint.

| NTRODUCTI ON

1. Plaintiff brings this action under the Adm nistrative
Procedure Act, 5 U S.C. § 701, et. seq. for a review of the
deni al by Defendant Food and Drug Admi nistration (“FDA”) of
Plaintiff’s petition for reclassification of a human
papi | l omavi rus (HPV) Nested DNA pol ynerase chain reaction (PCR)
Detection Device. Plaintiff requests that this Court (a) review

and overturn the denial of the petition or, in the alternative,



(b) order defendants to review the device under 21 U S.C. 8§

513(f)(2) for classification.

PARTI ES, JURI SDI CTI ON & VENUE

2. Plaintiff is an entity duly fornmed under the | aws of
the State of Connecticut.

3. Def endant United States Departnent of Health and Human
Services ("HHS’) is a departnent of the United States.

4. Def endant Food and Drug Adm nistration (“FDA’) is an
agency of HHS and an agency of the United States.

5. Def endant M chael O Leavitt is the Secretary of HHS
and is sued only in his official capacity.

6. Def endant Andrew von Eschenbach is the Comm ssioner of
FDA and is sued only in his official capacity.

7. Venue is proper in this District under 28 U S.C. Sec.
1391(e) as Plaintiff resides in this district.

8. Jurisdiction is founded upon the existence of a
federal question and proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U S. C
81331 as arising under the laws of the United States and the
Adm ni strative Procedure Act codified as 5 U S.C. §8 701 et. sec.

as a review of an adm nistrative deci sion.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

9. Plaintiff is a manufacturer of certain reagents for



maki ng identical copies of DNA nolecules in the test tube,
general ly known as priner-defined DNA PCR anplification.

10. Plaintiff intends to market a device for nested PCR
anplification of HPV DNA intended to be used for preparation of
sanple materials (“the device”) suitable for accurate HPV
genotypi ng by direct autonmated DNA sequencing, a “spin-off” new
technol ogy of the national Human CGenone Project. A sinplified
met hod for sanple preparation provided by said device w |
facilitate technology transferring of the cutting-edge DNA
sequenci ng technology into community hospital |aboratories to

i nprove patient care.

FI RST COUNT: The FDA Inproperly Deni ed The Recl assification
Petition Filed By The Plaintiff.

Par agraphs 1-10 are hereby incorporated herein by reference
as if set forth at |ength.

11. On March 7, 2007 (after repeated obstruction and
direction from FDA personnel as detailed in the second count,
below) Plaintiff filed Reclassification Petition For Human
Papi | | omavi rus (HPV) DNA Nested Pol ynerase Chain Reaction (PCR)
Detection (“the petition”) pursuant to 21 U S.C. 8§ 360c(f) (1)
with the FDA (attention: M. Heather Rosecrans), which petition
was dat e-stanped on May 22, 2007 and posted on the FDA Dockets

Managenment website under Docket No. 2007P-0210 for public



vi ew ng on June 4, 2007.

12. On April 9, 2007 plaintiff sent a letter requesting to
be informed of the nanmes of the reviewers appointed to the
classification review panel and of the date of the panel neeting
so that he could attend the neeting to answer any questions
rai sed by the panel.

13. After receiving no response fromthe FDA the
plaintiff brought suit in October of 2007 in this Court (case
no. 3:07CV1511RNC) to conpel the FDA to issue a decision, which
suit was voluntarily withdrawn after the FDA i ssued a deci sion.

14. On Decenber 14, 2007 the defendants issued a
Recl assification Order on Docket No. 2007P-0210 denying the
plaintiff's petition for reclassification (“the denial”) and
stating “ by order in the formof this letter, FDA is denying
your petition; your device remains in class IIl and is subject
to pre-market approval requirenents.”

15. The denial is not supported by nedical science or by
applicable statutes. It should be declared invalid and void for

the foll owi ng reasons:

a. The reviewers of the petition did not follow
est abl i shed FDA procedures in making their decision of denial;
specifically, to the best know edge and belief of the Plaintiff,
the FDA failed to forward the petition to the FDA Conm ssi oner

or to a classification panel for review



b. The denial inproperly conpares the device to
Di gene’s Hybrid Capture 2(hc2) High-R sk HPV DNA Test (“the
Di gene Test”), although the Digene Test uses a conpletely
different scientific basis to determ ne the presence and type of
HPV DNA, if any, present in a sanple.

c. The denial results in the FDA's over-regul ati on of
the device as a cancer test rather than as a test for a common
virus, thus requiring unnecessary and costly PMA subm ssion, in
viol ation of the | east burdensone provisions of the Food and
Drug Adm ni stration Mdernization Act of 1997 (as codified at 21
U S C 8360c(i)(1)(D and 360c(a)(3)(D(ii)) and at the expense
of public interest.

d. The denial violated the non-biased inplenmentation
of the risk-based nedi cal device classification provisions under
21 CFR 8 860.3(c) in that other in vitro devices for the
detection of infectious agents that may |l ead to chronic
inflammation | eading to cancer with human nortalities higher
than that caused by cervical cancer, such as tests for H Pylor
(causing stomach inflammtion), have been regul ated as cl ass |
or Il tests by the FDA without requiring PMA subm ssions. Such
i nconsi stent and asymmetrical inplenment of the nedical device

statutes is not in the best interest of public health.



e. Although the portion of the denial based upon
FDA's assertion that the device wll be used to assess a wonman’s
ri sk of devel oping cervical cancer and gui de patient managenment
decisions is erroneous, if it were correct, denying class |
status is inconsistent with the FDA's deci sion regarding the
classification of MammaPrint® (an in vitro device for the
pur pose of determ ning breast cancer prognosis).

f. The denial is based in part on the fact that the
device was designated as Class Il based upon the approval order
for the VRAPAP Human Papil |l omavirus DNA Detection Kit dated
Decenber 23, 1988, although the FDA has refused to produce a
copy of this Decenber 23, 1988 approval order at the request of
the Petitioner to showits statutory function as nmeans for
medi cal device cl assification.

g. The FDA erroneously found that Plaintiff did not
provi de adequate, scientific data as required by | aw

h. The FDA's assertion that the device is of
substantial inportance in preventing inpairnment of human health
is contrary to law, not supported by science, and contradicts
other statenents in the denial.

i. The FDA's allegation that the device presents a
potential unreasonable risk of illness or injury is contrary to
| aw, not supported by science, and contradicts other statenents

in the denial.



] - The FDA's allegation that the Plaintiff failed to
perform any crossreactivity or interfering substances studies to
show that results will not be affected by: (a) substances
potentially present in cervical cytol ogy specinens (such as
contraceptives, personal hygiene products, etc); and/or (b)

m croorgani sns ot her than the HPV strains targeted by the
device, such as m croorganisnms that are normally found in the
genital tract and any HPV genotypes that are not specifically
targeted by the device test or state precisely which HPV strains
are targeted by the device is erroneous in that it applies an
incorrect scientific standard to the devi ce.

k. The FDA s erroneously applied concepts of using
clinical sensitivity and specificity, which are derived fromthe
art of clinical judgnent (i.e., judgnent exercised by a doctor),
to evaluate nethods utilized by the device, are not appropriate
to scientifically validate | aboratory nethodol ogi es.

|. The FDA's declaration “FDA has not to date
approved any HPV genotyping test for diagnostic use, however”
stated as a basis in part for the denial reflects a failure of
the FDA and should not be used as a tool or a policy for
bl ocki ng new t echnol ogy i ntroduced for HPV genotypi ng.

m The portion of the denial based upon the probe
design i s erroneous because the device does not use a probe;

rather, the device uses a process known as PCR (pol ynerase chain



reaction) to replicate HPV DNA for automated DNA sequencing, a
technol ogy perfected in the work of the national Human Genone
Proj ect research

n. The portion of the denial based upon sanpling
met hodol ogy is erroneous because sanpling nethodol ogy as
described in the denial is not applicable to the PCR speci nen
anplification nethodol ogy.

0. The portion of the denial based upon conbination
of HPV genotypes is erroneous because the device sinply
replicates HPV DNA for DNA sequencing and does not perform HPV
genotyping or any evaluation of the relative risks or
appropriate treatnent thereof.

p. The FDA's assertion that the device is intended
for use in evaluating cancer risk is erroneous in that the
device is sinply a test for a virus DNA and does not dictate any
clinical judgnent.

qg. The denial is inconsistent wwth prior FDA
approvals in that FDA Conm ssioner and the Secretary of HHS knew
or should have known that FDA has reviewed and approved a type-
specific vaccine, Gardasil® to prevent the infection caused by
4 genotypes of potentially carcinogenic HPV using PCR-based HPV
DNA det ecti on and genotyping nethods simlar to the device to
support clinical safety and effectiveness of the genotype-

speci fic vacci ne on human subj ects.



r. The portion of the denial based upon the asserted
| ack of clinical sensitivity and clinical specificity data is
inconsistent wwth the prior approval of simlar HPV DNA PCR-
based anplification nethodol ogy for confirmng the clinical
safety and effectiveness of Gardasil ® without such eval uati on by
clinical sensitivity and clinical specificity data, and the
deni al provides no reason as to why a nethod is scientifically
acceptable for drug or vaccine evaluation with the results
utilized to support clinical safety and effectiveness of the
drug or vaccine, but not acceptable for preparing material for
clinical tests in nonitoring vaccine safety in patients.

S. Because injection of the genotype-specific
vaccine, Gardasil® into wonen who are already PCR-positive and
sero-positive for vaccine-relevant HPV types at the tine of
vaccination is not only ineffective, but may even inadvertently
enhance the risk of devel opi ng hi gh-grade precancerous
intraepithelial lesions by 44.6%in the recipients, and the
deni al di scourages conpetitive introduction of a PCR-based HPV
DNA device for accurate HPV genotypi ng net hodol ogi es that may be
useful for nonitoring a safe usage of the type-specific
vacci nation agai nst HPV infections for each individual s anong
sexual |y active young wonen, the denial is not in the best

i nterest of the consuners.



t. The portion of the denial based upon the all eged
insufficiency of special controls is erroneous as contrary to

accepted science.

SECOND COUNT: The FDA Should Have Permtted Plaintiff To Obtain
“De Novo” Review Under The Less-Burdensone Provisions O 21
U S. C 360(f)(1).

Par agraphs 1-15 of the First Count are hereby incorporated
herein by reference as if set forth at |ength.

16. On COctober 30, 2006 Plaintiff, through its
representative, Dr. Sin Hang Lee, wote in a letter including a
supportive pre-publication scientific manuscript to seek FDA
advi ce and gui dance to introduce the device into the U S. narket
by nmeans of pre-market notification procedures under 21 U S.C. 8§
360(k) and Part 807 of the FDA regulations, 21 C F. R § 807.

17. Wthout a response or an objection fromthe FDA, the
plaintiff followed the published FDA regulation of in vitro
di agnostic devices and submtted a pre-market notification for
t he devi ce on Decenber 7, 2006 and a Summary of Conparison with
the Digene Test as a predicate in Table Format for the
conveni ence of the FDA reviewers.

18. The plaintiff received a decision |letter dated January
9, 2007 fromthe FDA, stating “W have reviewed your Section
510(k) pre-market notification...” and “W have determ ned that

your type of device is classified as a class Il device by the

10



approval order for the VRAPAP Human Papill omavirus DNA Detection
Kit dated Decenmber 23, 1988”.

19. Plaintiff has requested, but never received, a copy of
t he FDA approval order for the VRAPAP Human Papill omavi rus DNA
Detection Kit dated Decenber 23, 1988, and has been ot herw se
unable to | ocate said order, although, upon know edge and beli ef
said order relates to the approval of the Digene Test discussed
bel ow.

20. A tel ephone call and an enail dated January 18, 2007
fromthe Plaintiff to Dr. Uae Scherf of O VD requested for a
copy of the FDA approval order for the VRAPAP Human
Papi | | omavirus DNA Detection Kit dated Decenber 23, 1988 to no
avail. Dr. Scherf only stated that device has been classified
as a cancer test and therefore nmust go through PMA subm ssion,
referring to an OVD regulatory policy letter dated March 18,
2004 signed by Dr. Steven Gutman: tests “intended for use in
identifying and typing HPV infection to stratify wonen at risk
for cervical cancer have been assigned to class Ill, requiring
subm ssion and approval of PMAs”.

21. Pursuant to 21 U. S.C. §8 360c(f)(2), on January 18,
2007 plaintiff submtted a Request for Evaluation of Automatic
Class Il Designation of the device under 21 U S.C 8§
360c(f)(2), also known as de novo review.

22. Plaintiff claimed as a statutory basis for the de novo

11



review that there should have been a “not substantially
equi val ent” determ nation by the FDA between the device and the
Di gene Test although the latter device was quoted as a predicat
for the 21 U.S.C. § 360(k) submssion as a formality as require
according to the A VD regul ati ons.

23. Plaintiff summarized the simlarities and differences
bet ween the device and the Digene Test in table format as an
attachnment to the original subm ssion showi ng eight differences
for the FDA's attention including but not limted to:

a. that the device is based on target DNA PCR
anplification, a technol ogy devel oped within the past 20 years
and after approval of the Digene Test, while the D gene Test,
approved in 1988, depends upon signal anplification to increase
its sensitivity, and

b. that the device provides materials suitable for
accurate genotyping by direct autonated DNA sequenci ng, but
itself does not perform HPV genotypi ng whereas the D gene Test
detects a group of 13 “high-risk” HPV types, but cannot offer
specific HPV genotyping information or be nodified for a
speci fi c genotypi ng determ nation.

24. The FDA failed to review the petition for de novo

e

d

review together with all acconpanying data in order to determ ne

the proper statutory procedure for classification of the device.

25. On January 22, 2006 and on February 21, 2007,

12



plaintiff wote to the Director of Division of M crobiology
Devices, Ofice of In Vitro D agnostic Device Eval uation and
Safety, Center for Devices and Radi ol ogical Health (CDRH), FDA
and t he CDRH Onbudsnman respectively, urging the FDA not to use
non-statutory regulatory block to prevent de novo review of the
devi ce.

26. On February 27, 2007 Ms. Heat her Rosecrans of the
O fice of Device Evaluation, CDRH tel ephoned to advise Dr. Sin
Hang Lee to withdraw the Petition for Evaluation of Automatic
Class Il Designation under de novo review and to send her a fax
letter as soon as possible, and re-submt a petition for
reclassification for the device instead under 21 U S.C. 8§
360c(f)(1), in order to facilitate the revi ew process, arguing
that otherwi se the original petition would not be reviewed for
years.

27. Plaintiff reluctantly, and after repeated obstruction
and direction from FDA personnel, filed the petition for
reclassification that is the subject of the first count of this
Amended Conpl ai nt .

28. Thereafter, Plaintiff sent another two letters on
March 23, 2007 and April 2, 2007 respectively to the CDRH
Onbudsman, requesting a nmediation which mght lead to a | ess
bur densone revi ew of the subm ssion by the neans of the de novo

process rather than the | onger, nore burdensone 21 U S.C. 8§

13



360c(f) (1) reclassification process, which mght require the

attention of the FDA Conm ssioner and a classification panel.
29. Based on review of the differences between the device

and the Digene Test, and after proper review, the FDA should

have found that the two devices were “not substantially

equi valent” and permtted the device to be eval uated under the

| ess burdensone provisions of de novo review found in 21 U S. C

§ 360c(f)(2).

14



REQUEST FOR RELI EF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that this Court:

1. Revi ew and reverse the denial of the petition, or, in
the alternative,

2. Decl are the denial invalid and void, and order
def endants to conduct an unbi ased review of the device under 21
US C 8 513(f)(2) for classification, and

3. Order such other relief as the Court sees fit.

THE PLAI NTI FF
H FI DNA TECH, LLC

BY:

Ant hony J. Musto

Attorney for Plaintiff

2 Sherman Court

Fairfield, CT 06824

(203) 259- 4488 / Fx: (203) 268- 9661
attynust o@bcgl obal . net

Fed. Bar No. CT25373
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Certificate of Service

| hereby certify that on the above date, a copy of the foregoing
nmotion to dismss, nenorandumin support, and attachnents was
filed electronically and served by nail on anyone unable to
accept electronic filing. Notice of this filing will be sent by
e-mail to all parties by operation of the court’s electronic
filing systemor by mail to anyone unable to accept el ectronic
filing as indicated on the Notice of Electronic Filing. Parties
may access this filing through the court’s CM ECF System

US Dept. Health and Human Andr ew von Eschenbach
Servi ces U. S. Food and Drug
200 I ndependence Ave., SW Adm ni stration

Washi ngton, DC 20201 5600 Fi sher Lane

Rockville, MD 20857
M chael O Leavitt

US Dept. Health and Human M chael Mikasey, Attorney
Servi ces Gener a

200 | ndependence Ave., SW U S. Dept. of Justice
Washi ngton, DC 20201 950 Pennsyl vani a Ave.

Washi ngt on, DC 20530- 0001
U. S. Food and Drug

Adm ni stration Cvil Process Oerk
5600 Fi sher Lane Ofice of US Attorney
Rockville, MD 20857 915 Lafayete Bl vd., Room 309

Bri dgeport, CI 06604

BY:

Ant hony J. Musto

Attorney for Plaintiff

2 Sherman Court

Fairfield, CT 06824

(203) 259- 4488 / Fx: (203) 268-9661
attynust o@bcgl obal . net

Fed. Bar No. CT25373
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